Western University Scholarship@Western

Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository

8-21-2023 9:00 AM

Single-Subject Writing Strategy Instruction: A Meta-Analysis

Madelyn A. Casola, Western University

Supervisor: Klein, Perry D,, *The University of Western Ontario* Co-Supervisor: Neil, Nicole, *The University of Western Ontario* A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Master of Arts degree in Education © Madelyn A. Casola 2023

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd

Recommended Citation

Casola, Madelyn A., "Single-Subject Writing Strategy Instruction: A Meta-Analysis" (2023). *Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository*. 9568. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/9568

This Dissertation/Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact wlswadmin@uwo.ca.

Abstract

This meta-analysis reports on single-subject design (SSD) writing strategy instruction research conducted in the 15 years since Rogers and Graham's (2008) metaanalysis on SSD writing instruction. The analysis reviewed 36 studies and aimed to answer four questions: 1) Are writing strategy interventions tested using single-subject methodology effective with students in Grades 1 to 8? (2) Is writing strategy instruction more effective for some grades than others? (3) Is writing strategy instruction more beneficial for specific samples of students? (4) Do studies deemed higher quality based on What Works Clearinghouse (2022) (WWC) indicators have more or less overlap than those deemed lower quality? Results showed that students benefited from writing strategy instruction, making significant gains in holistic text quality, number of genre elements and word count. When comparing the effectiveness across grade levels, writing strategy instruction was highly effective in improving holistic text quality of students in grades 5-8 and moderately effective for students in grades 1-4. When exploring the effectiveness with various student samples, writing strategy instruction was highly effective in improving holistic text quality for emotional behavioural disorders/suspected emotional behavioural disorders and autism spectrum disorder groups but moderately effective for the learning disabilities/struggling writers' group. Visual analysis results revealed low to moderate study validity. Although study quality was poor to acceptable and should be improved, the effectiveness of writing strategy instruction did not differ significantly between low and higher quality studies.

Keywords

Writing strategy instruction, single-subject design, meta-analysis, elementary instruction

Summary for Lay Audience

Writing strategy instruction has been shown to be effective when taught in a classwide setting; however, some struggling students require one-on-one assistance. Writing strategy instruction teaches students to use self-regulation skills combined with writing knowledge to improve their writing. This includes teaching students specific strategies on how to plan, draft and revise writing, with most strategies designed to address a specific genre or type of writing. Self-regulation skills are complex mental processes that allow individuals to deal with the relationship between personal, behavioral, and environmental factors. Writing knowledge refers to an individual's knowledge of the writing process, including knowledge of sentence formation, vocabulary and different writing genres.

The purpose of this review was to examine the research conducted in the last 15 years and determine if writing strategy instruction is also beneficial when taught on an individual basis. This study reviewed 36 studies to determine the effectiveness of writing strategy instruction tested across students in Grades 1-8 using single-subject design, meaning the instruction was taught to individuals and not on a class-wide basis. The study determined that writing strategy instruction administered one-on-one is highly effective for all students including those with various exceptionalities in Grades 1-8. This is important for educators who can use writing strategy instruction on a class-wide basis, or as a one-on-one intervention with students with exceptionalities or who may need additional support. While study quality was an issue with studies generally, the positive effects of writing strategy instructions for individuals did not differ by study design quality.

Acknowledgments

First, I would like to express my sincerest thanks to my supervisor Dr. Perry Klein for his unwavering support and guidance throughout this process. I would also like to thank Dr. Nicole Neil for providing me with valuable insights and guidance on single-subject design research. Furthermore, thank you to the writing research group for providing valuable feedback throughout. Finally, I would like to sincerely thank my family and friends for their unconditional support.

Table of Contents

Abstract	ii
Summar	y for Lay Audienceiv
Acknow	ledgmentsv
Table of	Contentsvi
List Of T	Tables viii
List of F	iguresix
List of A	ppendices x
Chapter	11
1 Intr	oduction1
1.1	Writing Development
1.2	Role of Discourse Knowledge in Writing
1.3	Role of Self-Regulation in Writing
1.4	Writing Strategy Instruction
1.5	Self-Regulated Strategy Development (SRSD) Instruction
1.6	Single-Subject Designs
1.7	Percentage of Non-Overlapping Data Points (PND)
1.8	Explanation of Visual Analysis
1.9	Summary of Rogers and Graham (2008) Research 10
1.10	Rationale for Meta-Analysis 11
Chapter 2	2
2 Met	hods
2.1	Location and Selection of Studies
2.2	Dependent Variables
2.3	What Works Clearinghouse Quality Indicators

2.4	Calculation of PND Values
2.5	Conducting Visual Analysis
Chapte	r 3
3 R	esults
3.1 3.	Selected Studies and Participants
3.2	Results of Visual Analysis
3.3 Indio	Do Studies Deemed Higher Quality Based on What Works Clearinghouse cators Have More or Less Overlap Than Those Deemed Lower Quality?
3.4	Is Writing Strategy Instruction More Effective in Some Grade Levels Than Others? 38
3.5	Is Writing Strategy Instruction More Beneficial for Certain Types of
Exce	ptionalities
3.	5.1 Comparison Among Study Samples
Chapte	r 4
4 D	scussion
4.1	Practical Implications
4.2	Limitations and Future Study Directions
Chapte	r 5 57
5 C	onclusion
References	
Curricu	ılum Vitae

List Of Tables

Table 1	
Table 2	
Table 3	
Table 4	

List of Figures

Figure 1	16
Figure 2	
Figure 3	
Figure 4	
Figure 5	39
Figure 6	40
Figure 7	41
Figure 8	44
Figure 9	45
Figure 10	

List of Appendices

5.1	Appendix A: WWC Primary Quality Indicators	. 75
5.2	Appendix B: WWC Indicators for Multiple Baseline and Multiple Probe Single-	
Subjec	ct Research	. 77
5.3	Appendix C: Mean PND Holistic Text Quality Values	. 80
5.4	Appendix D: Mean PND Genre Elements Values	. 82
5.5	Appendix E: Mean PND Word Count Values	. 84

Chapter 1

1 Introduction

Writing, including planning, researching, organizing, and editing, helps children think, learn, express their thoughts, and be understood by others (Graham et al., 2005). Therefore, teaching children to write effectively is critical to promoting their future academic and personal success (Miller & McCardle, 2010). This thesis will report on a meta-analysis of single-subject design studies of writing strategy instruction, a specific type of writing intervention. While writing strategy instruction is often conducted in a class-wide setting, there are cases in which students work one-on-one with educators during writing interventions. These cases may include students with learning challenges or disabilities, as well as students who have been placed in tier 3 within a response to intervention model and require additional support (Denton et al., 2013; Werts et al., 2014). However, the effectiveness of writing strategy instruction administered oneon-one may differ, making it important to investigate the effectiveness of delivering these interventions on a one-on-one basis. Such interventions are commonly investigated using SSD research. This work will report on research conducted in the 15 years since the meta-analysis of Rogers and Graham (2008), providing an up-to-date review of single-subject design writing strategy instruction including whether such instruction is beneficial for students with exceptionalities.

1.1 Writing Development

Research on writing development demonstrates the skills required to write effectively, making it important to incorporate such skills into writing interventions. Kim's (2020) interactive dynamic literacy (IDL) model provides a comprehensive overview of the skills that contribute to writing processes and outcomes. The IDL model expands on developmental models such as Berninger and Winn's (2006) not-so-simple view of writing and Kim and colleague's (2017) direct and indirect effects model of developmental writing, by summarizing research on the foundational skills needed by students to be strong readers and writers. The IDL model integrates the results of previous research on writing development. It conceptualizes reading and writing as relying on an overlapping set of discourse, sentence, lexical and sublexical level literacy skills, such as reading and writing comprehension, phonemic awareness, and transcription skills. Additionally, reading and writing skills also rely on similar executive functioning skills such as working memory and self-regulation (Kim, 2020). The development of students' reading and writing skills is bidirectional, with each influencing the other. Furthermore, the IDL model also explains why students with reading difficulties often experience writing challenges and vice versa, as having challenges with any of these sets of skills will directly influence a student's development in the other subject, and they rely on many of the same underlying cognitive and oral language skills.

1.2 Role of Discourse Knowledge in Writing

An individual's discourse knowledge plays a vital role in their development as a writer (Kim, 2020). Discourse knowledge refers to an individual's linguistic knowledge, vocabulary, knowledge of sentence formation, and knowledge of different writing genres (Olinghouse & Graham, 2009; Kim, 2020). For example, a study by Saddler and Graham (2007) examined the relationship between discourse knowledge and writing development in both strong and struggling Grade 4 writers. Researchers reported two main findings: (1) Students classified as strong writers had more general writing knowledge; and (2) Students with more discourse knowledge produced longer and stronger writing pieces.

Discourse knowledge also positively impacts beginning writers' development. To illustrate, Wen and Coker (2020) examined the influence of discourse knowledge on beginning writers' development. In this study, 380 Grade 1 students participated in an interview at the beginning and end of the school year designed to assess their discourse knowledge. Students also completed narrative and descriptive writing samples at the beginning and end of the school year. The researchers found that results from the discourse knowledge interview at the beginning of the school year had no relationship with writing development. However, students' results from the end of the year discourse knowledge survey were related to students' writing achievement in both genres. This suggests that discourse knowledge begins to develop early, contributes to writing development, and should be an area of focus in writing interventions.

1.3 Role of Self-Regulation in Writing

Self-regulation also plays a vital role in an individual's writing development. According to Bandura (1991), self-regulation is defined as a dynamic and complex cognitive process that allows individuals to deal with the interplay between personal, behavioural, and environmental factors. Self-regulatory processes such as monitoring and controlling the planning of texts, editing throughout the writing process, and self-evaluating the text all influence writing quality. In 1997, Zimmerman and Risemberg created the self-regulation model of writing. In this model, self-regulation is divided into three components: (1) environmental; (2) behavioural; and (3) personal/covert. The authors suggest that these three components interact through what is described as a cyclic feedback loop, meaning that writers can actively monitor their writing and apply feedback from others in a timely manner. Research on self-regulation's influence on writing has shown positive results. For example, a meta-analysis conducted by Graham and colleagues (2012) examined 115 studies that conducted research on writing interventions with elementary students in Grades 1-5. Results showed that writing strategy instruction was the most effective of all the types of writing interventions analyzed, with an effect size of 1.02. Specifically, interventions that utilized selfregulated strategy development were found to have significantly improved students' overall text quality (effect size 1.17). Furthermore, when studies added self-regulation training to their writing interventions, they were more effective. These findings suggest that for writing interventions to be effective, they should target the essential skills needed for writing: discourse knowledge and self-regulation (Santangelo & Graham., 2015).

1.4 Writing Strategy Instruction

Writing strategy instruction teaches discourse knowledge and self-regulation skills including specific strategies on how to plan, draft and revise writing, with most strategies being designed to address a specific genre of writing (e.g., persuasive writing, story writing; Graham et al., 2005; Kim, 2020; Olinghouse & Graham, 2009). Research has shown that writing strategy instruction is effective at improving students' writing. To illustrate, Graham and Harris (2017) conducted a review of meta-analyses exploring the effectiveness of writing practices for students in Grades 1-12. Results showed that studies of writing strategy instruction, in comparison to other methods such as process writing instruction, reported the largest effect sizes for improvement in writing quality (Graham & Harris, 2017).

1.5 Self-Regulated Strategy Development (SRSD) Instruction

The most extensively researched form of writing strategy instruction in the literature and in the present meta-analysis is self-regulated strategy development (SRSD; Graham et al., 2005). Thus, this section will explain SRSD in more detail. SRSD teaches students to use selfregulatory processes appropriate to different genres and phases of the writing process. SRSD consists of methods to effectively plan writing and edit a writing piece, intertwined with other self-regulation processes. This includes using a strategy, a plan that students follow to help generate ideas and language for a particular type of text, to plan their writing and to engage in self-instruction throughout the writing process.

There are four main categories of self-regulation strategies taught in SRSD: selfevaluation, goal setting, positive self-talk, and self-reinforcement. The first category, selfevaluation, requires students to evaluate their writing throughout the writing process. The second category of the self-regulation process taught is goal setting, in which the writer sets personal goals to improve their writing; for example, the writer incorporating a certain number of story elements into their stories. A vital component of SRSD is teaching students how to cope with the challenges they may face during writing. One way this is taught is by teaching students to engage in positive self-talk. Positive self-talk is when writers say positive phrases of encouragement, such as "you can do it", to get through the writing process (Harris & Graham, 2016). Finally, students learn to engage in self-reinforcement using verbal or tangible reinforcers for completing writing activities to a criterion.

SRSD instruction consists of six steps: (1) develop background knowledge; (2) discuss it; (3) model it; (4) memorize it; (5) support the student with the strategy; and (6) independent practice (Graham et al., 2000). In the first step of SRSD, develop background knowledge, students are taught the prerequisite skills and knowledge that are needed for the strategy. This teaching may include specific elements of a genre, such as, a story has a beginning, middle and end. In the second step, discuss it, the teacher first introduces the strategy to students, discussing why the strategy is being used and when it is appropriate to use it. In some cases, teachers create mnemonics to help consolidate student learning. In the third step, model it, the teacher demonstrates to the students how the strategy is used. This includes modelling how to identify goals for their writing piece, organize and plan out their writing before starting, implement strategies for when they get stuck, evaluate their own work, exhibit self-control in relation to writing, and provide positive self-reinforcement. An important aspect of this step is the teacher thinking aloud, so that students can see the thinking, including discourse knowledge and self-regulatory thinking, "behind" the writing. The teacher may work with the students to create a simplified list that highlights each step of the strategy so that students can refer to it throughout.

In the fourth step of SRSD instruction, memorize it, students commit the steps of the strategy to memory, as well as put what they have learned into action, by participating in lessons taught by the teacher that incorporate all steps of SRSD. In the fifth step, support it, students actually create a written text, using the steps of the strategy and self-regulatory processes. The teacher provides students with any support they need to ensure that they are applying the SRSD strategy to composing. Forms of support may include writing with prompting from the teacher, writing with a peer, or writing with support from a template. Finally, in the sixth step, independent work, students work independently on writing pieces by using an SRSD strategy.

1.6 Single-Subject Designs

Single-subject design (SSD) is a group of experimental designs in which the participant acts as their own control (Kratochwill & Levin, 2010). Behavior is measured

repeatedly, and an intervention is introduced for specific time periods, and the data from these different phases are then compared to determine the effectiveness of the intervention. Multiple baseline design (MBD) and multiple probe design (MPD) are two types of SSDs that are often utilized in writing research. Since the studies reviewed in this analysis used one of these two types of SSD, each of these designs will be explained in further detail (Kratochwill & Levin, 2010).

MBD, the first of the two types of SSDs used by studies in this meta-analysis, was first introduced by Baer and associates (1968) to investigate research questions in applied behavior analysis. MBDs typically have four phases. First, a baseline is established for each participant, meaning that during a specified period, multiple data points are collected from each participant to ensure that the assessment is capturing the participant's consistent behaviour or response prior to instruction (Ledford & Gast, 2018). Validity is considered highest in concurrent designs, in which all participants begin the baseline phase at the same time, to control for possible history effects. Once the researchers establish a baseline for a given participant, instruction is introduced in the intervention phase for one participant at a time. It is important to note that in MBD studies, participants begin the intervention phase of the study at different times and not simultaneously so that each student can act not only as a participant for themselves but also as a control for the participant that entered the intervention before them (Baer et al., 1968). This rules out alternative explanations for results, such as maturation. When the intervention is completed, the student is re-evaluated in the post-intervention phase (Baer et al., 1968; Mason et al., 2010). Finally, the researchers wait for a designated period post-intervention and then establish a reliable measure of performance in the maintenance phase for the student (Baer et al., 1968; Mason et al., 2010).

MPDs follow the same principles as MBD designs, with the difference being the use of intermittent measurement to determine the change between phases. MPD and MBD studies have high internal validity due to the repeated measurement involved in both designs and the staggering of when participants will receive the intervention. Collecting data points across multiple distinctive time periods and participants helps to ensure that the change observed was due to the intervention and not random error, novelty of the intervention, or maturation (Kratochwill & Levin, 2010).

1.7 Percentage of Non-Overlapping Data Points (PND)

In SSDs, a variety of statistics have been used by different researchers and disciplines to compare phases of an intervention, with debate on what is deemed to be the best measure (Kratochwill & Levin, 2010). In recent decades, the most commonly used statistic in SSD research and in particular writing research has been PND (Scruggs & Mastropieri, 2013). PND was also the statistic used in the Rogers and Graham (2008) meta-analysis, which is the starting point for this review. Therefore, the researcher chose PND as the statistic for the current meta-analysis as it was the most appropriate option and would allow for comparison of effects across studies in the current analysis and with the Rogers & Graham meta-analysis (2008).

PND is comprised of the percentage of participants' post-intervention phase data points that do not overlap with the data points collected during baseline (Rogers & Graham, 2008). Post-intervention data points that exceed the participant's highest baseline point (or lowest if it is a behaviour decrease study) are counted and turned into a ratio, dividing the number of nonoverlapping data points by the total number of data points in the post-intervention phase, and then multiplied by 100 to calculate a percentage representing the intervention's effectiveness (Mason et al., 2010). Advantages of PND include ease of calculation from graphical rather than raw data, a high degree of inter-rater reliability, applicability to any SSD design type and ease of interpretation (Scruggs & Mastropieri, 2013). Although some criticism argues that PND is not considered a true effect size measure because of difficulty assessing the magnitude of change (Kratochwill & Levin, 2010), Scruggs and Mastropieri (1998) interpret the effectiveness of an intervention as follows: PND values from 0 to 49 percent are considered to represent an ineffective intervention, values from 50 to 69 percent are considered to represent a somewhat effective intervention, values from 70 to 89 percent are considered to represent an effective intervention, and values from 90 to 100 percent are considered to represent a highly effective intervention.

1.8 Explanation of Visual Analysis

Researchers utilize visual analysis to determine the outcome of an intervention by examining data patterns both within and between phases (Kratochwill & Levin, 2010). PND does not account for possible trends within the data. This is important to note, as the presence of a trend in the data may suggest that positive outcomes are due to factors outside of the intervention, and descending trends in the post-intervention phase may suggest that the intervention may not be effective even if it appears to be initially. When conducting a visual analysis in this review, researchers followed visual analysis standards outlined by Ledford and Gast (2018). Four standards must be followed to ensure reliability: (1) Ensure a consistent baseline pattern with minimal variability is documented before moving on to the next phase; (2) Data collected during the intervention phase will be examined to determine if a trend has formed, with no significant upward trend; (3) Data collected during all the study phases will all be compared with respect to level to establish if the change across phases occurs concurrently in the desired direction enough and; and (4) across participants, the effect occurs at least three times (Kratochwill & Levin, 2010).

1.9 Summary of Rogers and Graham (2008) Research

The last meta-analysis on SSD writing strategy instruction and interventions was conducted in 2008 by Rogers and Graham and consisted of students in Grades 1-12. The researchers calculated the PND values for nine different types of writing interventions: (1) strategy instruction for planning/drafting; (2) teaching grammar and usage; (3) goal setting for productivity; (4) strategy instruction for editing; (5) writing with a word processor; (6) reinforcing specific writing outcomes; (7) use of prewriting activities; (8) teaching sentence construction skills; and (9) strategy instruction for paragraph writing. While results showed that all nine interventions were effective, the three writing strategy instruction interventions were the most effective. Specifically, the strategy instruction for planning/drafting interventions had a mean text quality PND value of 99 percent, a mean genre elements PND value of 96 percent, and a mean productivity PND value of 91 percent. The strategy instruction for editing interventions had a mean correcting errors PND value of 84 percent. Finally, the strategy instruction for paragraph writing interventions had a mean genre elements PND value of 97 percent.

Rogers and Graham (2008) analyzed the quality of the studies included in their metaanalysis, using a set of study quality indicators for SSDs developed by Horner (2005) that represented the standard at the time. However, those quality indicators differ from the more recent WWC (2022) quality indicators used for this analysis, as study quality standards have risen since the publication in 2008 of Rogers and Graham's analysis. Rogers and Graham's quality analysis indicated that many of the studies reviewed failed to fully describe the study's selection criteria, and where the study took place. Many studies also failed to fully describe their participants, including whether students were suspected to have or identified with various exceptionalities. Furthermore, very few of the studies provided information to confirm treatment fidelity. Finally, it was shown that experimental control was established in only about 40 percent of the studies analyzed. This leads to concerns about how effective the interventions were, as it was logically not possible to determine if the interventions were the sole reason for participants' improvement or if results were influenced by outside variables. These concerns regarding study quality, combined with increased study quality standards, suggest the need for continued analysis of study design quality in SSD writing intervention research (Rogers and Graham, 2008; WWC, 2022).

In addition to study design quality, it is important to note further limitations regarding the Rogers and Graham (2008) meta-analysis and the studies analyzed within the analysis. First, Rogers and Graham reviewed very few studies about writing strategy instruction with students in lower elementary grades, indicating the need to explore subsequent research with this group. Second, Rogers and Graham's analysis only included the effects of writing instruction for students in general and did not provide information on the effectiveness of writing instruction for students with various exceptionalities. Finally, the meta-analysis was conducted in 2008, now 15 years ago, suggesting the need for a review on up-to-date literature, which this meta-analysis provides.

1.10 Rationale for Meta-Analysis

This meta-analysis aims to update the literature by exploring four questions: (1) Are writing strategy interventions tested using SSD methodology effective with students in Grades 1 to 8? (2) Does the effect of writing strategy instruction differ between early elementary grades and late elementary grades? (3) Is writing strategy instruction more beneficial for specific

samples? (4) Do studies deemed higher quality based on What Works Clearinghouse (2022) (WWC) indicators have more or less overlap than those deemed lower quality?

Chapter 2

2 Methods

2.1 Location and Selection of Studies

Nine criteria were used to select studies for this meta-analysis. First, studies included in this review must have focused on writing strategy instruction. Second, studies must have had a sample of students in Grades 1 to 8. Third, only studies that used SSD methodology (e.g., MBD or MPD) were included in this review. Fourth, only studies that provided the appropriate data for calculating PND values between baseline and treatment phases by presenting legible graphical data or numerical data, were included. The fifth criterion was that only studies published between January 2008 and November 2022 that were peer-reviewed journal articles were included. Seventh, studies must have had a minimum of three participants to be included in this review, to provide more data and strengthen the finding of the analysis. Eighth, studies must have included one, two, or three of the following dependent variables: holistic text quality, genre elements and word count. Finally, all studies must have been published in English as the researcher did not have the resources to consider studies conducted in languages other than English.

The following databases and journals were used to conduct a systematic search for studies to include in this review: (1) *ERIC*; (2) *Reading and Writing Quarterly*; (3) *Routledge*; (4) *Omni*; (5) *JSTOR*; and (6) *PsychInfo*. These databases and journals were chosen as they are the most comprehensive in psychology and education, making them ideal places to search for studies to include in this analysis. More specifically, *ERIC* (Education Resource Information Centre) database is sponsored by the Institute of Educational Sciences of the United States Department of Education and focuses on education research (*ERIC - Education Resources*)

Information Center, 2019). *Reading and Writing Quarterly* is the leading journal specifically focused on instruction and intervention in reading and writing (*Reading and Writing Quarterly*, n.d.). *Routledge* publishes research across multiple disciplines including psychology and education (*Routledge*, 2019). *JSTOR* is a general database with access to over 12 million articles across 75 different disciplines including psychology (*JSTOR*, 2000). The *PsychInfo* database, created by the American Psychological Association, describes itself as the largest resource for peer-reviewed literature in psychology and behavioural science (American Psychological Association, 2023). Finally, *Omni* is an academic search tool that provides users with access to the libraries of participating Ontario universities and other high-quality resources (*Omni Academic Search Tool*, n.d.).

To identify studies that met the nine study inclusion criteria listed above, the primary researcher performed the following steps. First, by selecting and combining key terms based on the Rogers and Graham (2008) meta-analysis, the following syntax was created and used to search for articles: (Single Subject OR Multiple Baseline OR Multiple Probe) AND (Writing Strategy OR SRSD OR Self-Regulated Strategy Development OR Strategy in Writing). Further search filters were applied relating to study inclusion criteria, such as publication dates only from January 2008 onwards, participant grade levels ranging from Grades 1-8, participants described as elementary or middle school students and relevant subject area, resulting in 1,384 articles. The researcher then scanned those article titles for publication date and other inclusion criteria, and more specifically, to ensure studies related to the correct subject area and had the correct study populations. This led to 187 studies selected for abstract screening and placed into Covidence is an online screening tool used for meta-analyses and systematic reviews. Specifically, it helped the primary researcher to organize their studies, and to detect any

duplicate studies and studies that failed to meet the study inclusion criteria (Covidence, 2023). After Covidence screening was completed, 64 of the 187 studies were found to be duplicates and were removed. Abstract screening was conducted on the remaining 123 studies, after which 64 studies were removed for failing to meet study inclusion criteria. The remaining 59 studies were then subjected to a full-text review, resulting in a further 23 studies being excluded for various reasons, including not being focused on elementary-age students or writing strategy instruction. Throughout the search process, studies were excluded if they failed to meet any of the current meta-analysis inclusion criteria listed above. This search process, as shown below in Figure 1, resulted in a total of 36 studies being included in the current meta-analysis. The data generated from the above search was entered into an Excel spreadsheet and organized into individual sheets, based on the specific analysis being conducted.

Figure 1

Overview of the Meta-Analysis Search Process



2.2 Dependent Variables

Three dependent variables, namely holistic text quality, genre elements, and word count, were used in this meta-analysis to answer the research questions. Holistic text quality is a measurement used by writing researchers that considers the ideas, organization, vocabulary, sentence structure and tone of participants' writing, with no weighting of these features, to provide a holistic overall score. Holistic text quality has been shown to validly measure the development of students' writing (Kim et al., 2014; Graham & Perin, 2007). Regarding the genre elements dependent variable, research has indicated that a count of the type of genre elements or features in student writing is also a valid measure of writing development (Olinghouse & Graham, 2009). Measuring genre elements involves assessing how many key genre elements a student includes in their writing samples; for example, in a narrative, whether the student includes characters, setting, dialogue, problem and solution (Salas et al., 2020). Finally, word count, the third dependent variable, has also been shown to be a valid measurement of young writers' development (Graham et al., 2005; Wagner et al., 2011). Word count is calculated by determining the sum of words that students include in their writing sample (Coker et al., 2018).

2.3 What Works Clearinghouse Quality Indicators

The quality of each study in this analysis was assessed using WWC (2022) quality indicators for SSD research. To be eligible for review, studies must be publicly available, complete with all relevant data, published within the last 20 years, and written in English. The study must use an eligible design, one of which is SSD. The study sample must have an eligible population (e.g., elementary school students), and a majority of the sample must be participants from the U.S., U.S. overseas military bases, or an Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development member country where English is the main language (Canada, United Kingdom, New Zealand, Austria and Ireland). The study intervention must be eligible (e.g., school-based or educationally relevant) and must have at least one outcome from an area relevant to the education community (e.g., educational attainment or progress).

Once the initial screening is completed, six principal quality indicators apply to all types of SSD research: (1) outcome measures; (2) data availability; (3) independent variable; (4) residual treatment effects (if applicable); (5) design assessment; and (6) limited risk of bias. Outlined below in Table 1 is a summary of the six principal indicators and their subcomponents (see Appendix A for a full explanation). If the study does not meet any of these eligibility

requirements, the review stops, and the study does not receive a quality rating.

Table 1

Indicator	Explanation
Outcome measures	Evidence of validity is shown throughout the study, with reliable outcome measures and no evidence of confounding factors being present. Additionally, data collection procedures must be the same across all phases of the study. Failure to meet results in a rating of does not meet standards and review stops.
Data availability	All raw data relating to participants' findings must be shown in graphical or tabular format, and summary data is not acceptable. Failure to meet results in does not meet standards.
Independent variable	The researcher must methodically manipulate the independent variable. Additionally, there must be clear standards for when participants change phases in the study. Failure to meet results in the finding being rated does not meet standards.
Residual treatment effects	Study must be designed in a way that minimizes the likelihood of spillover from one intervention phase into the observation phase before a separate intervention. If a study finding is found to have this, the finding will be rated does not meet standards.
Design assessment	Refers to number of phase changes present in study. Three phase changes must occur between two conditions at three different points in time (meaning a total of six phase changes must occur throughout entire study). Studies with findings that meet these criteria will meet standards with reservations OR without reservations, depending on data points per phase requirements set out below.

Summary of Principal WWC Quality Indicators

In addition to meeting these principal quality indicators, studies must also meet additional quality indicators depending on the type of SSD conducted. Since the studies in this metaanalysis utilized multiple baseline or multiple probe designs, a summary of the applicable additional criteria is provided below in Table 2 (see Appendix B for a full explanation of these additional indicators).

Table 2

Indicator	Explanation
Phases	MBD and MPD - designs must have a minimum of six phases split into two conditions at three different times. Studies that meet this requirement will be rated meets standards with reservations or meets standards without reservations, depending on the number of data points per phase set out below.
Data points per phase	MBD and MPD - Phases must have a minimum of three points per phase for study to be rated meets with reservations. However, studies with six points in baseline and five points in subsequent phases will be rated meets standards without reservations. (The exception to this rule: a study having zero variability can receive the higher rating with only three data points per phase.)

Summary of Additional WWC MBD and MPD Quality Indicators

Concurrence	MBD and MPD - Data must be arranged in a way that allows for vertical comparison between graphs for participants. Baseline data for all participants must be collected before first participant enters intervention phase. Further, individuals waiting to receive the intervention must have data recorded at the time or immediately after another individual enters the intervention phase. Study findings from MBDs/MPDs that do not meet this concurrence requirement will be rated Does not meet standards.
Presence of training phase (if applicable)	MBD and MPD - Ensuring a training phase is present in the study if appropriate.
Initial preintervention data collection sessions must overlap	MPD only - There must be a minimum of three data points collected in the first three sessions, to meet standards without reservations. To meet standards with reservations, in at least one of the first three sessions the probe points must overlap vertically for all phases of the design.
Probe points must be available just prior to introducing the independent variable	MPD only – Within the first three sessions just before the intervention phase, the study must have three consecutive probe points for each participant to meets standards without reservations, and a minimum of one probe point for each participant immediately before the start of the intervention to meet standards with reservations. Each participant not receiving the intervention, must have a probe point in a session where another participant either first receives the intervention or reaches a prespecified intervention criterion described by the researchers.

Note: MPD studies must meet all criteria of MBD studies, in addition to the MPD only criteria outlined above in Table 2.

The primary researcher completed an additional scan of each study in the meta-analysis and assessed whether studies met the above WWC quality indicators. A second reviewer also assessed one-third of the studies included in the meta-analysis to determine if they met WWC quality indicators. The researchers followed WWC (2022) scoring procedures:

 If at least one main finding in a study is reviewed and rated *meets WWC standards without reservations*, the study will receive a research rating of *meets WWC standards without reservations*. A main study finding will be rated meets WWC standards without reservations if it meets all Table 1 indicators, has the requisite number of phase changes and data points (six in the baseline phase and five in subsequent phases), and meets concurrence requirements. MPDs must also meet their additional above requirements.
 If at least one main or supplemental finding in a study is reviewed and rated *meets WWC standards with reservations*, the study will receive a research rating of *meets WWC standards with reservations*. A main or supplement study finding will be rated meets
 WWC standards with reservations if that finding meets all Table 1 indicators, meets the concurrence requirements, but only has a minimum of three data points in the baseline phase. MPDs must also meet their additional above requirements.

3. However, if at least one supplemental study finding is reviewed and rated *meets WWC standards without reservations* or *meets WWC standards with reservations*, BUT all the main findings in the same study are rated *does not meet WWC standards*, or the study does not have main findings, the study as a whole will receive a research rating of *meets WWC standards with reservations*.

4. If all main and supplemental study findings are rated *does not meet WWC standards*, the study will be rated *does not meet WWC* standards. This will occur when all main and supplemental study findings do not meet Table 1 and 2 indicators.

It is important to note that if studies fail to meet concurrence standards, they automatically receive a *does not meet WWC standards* rating. Studies with less than six data points in the baseline phase and five points in the subsequent phases will at best be rated *meets WWC standards with reservations*. The findings for each study using the Table 1 and Table 2 indicators were analyzed independently and then looked at holistically, with a final rating assigned for the whole study.

2.4 Calculation of PND Values

The primary researcher reviewed the 36 studies in this meta-analysis to determine a mean PND value, where possible, for the three dependent variables (holistic text quality, genre elements and word count) for each study. This allowed the researcher to summarize the results and compare studies. PND values for each study were calculated in one of two ways. First, if a study reported individual participant PND values, the primary researcher added the values together and averaged them to create a mean PND value for the study as a whole. This procedure was followed for each dependent variable for which the study provided individual PND values. If individual participant PND values were not reported, but the data was available, the researcher calculated each individual participant's PND value for each dependent variable, by analyzing each participant's graph for the number of post-intervention phase data points that do not overlap with the highest data point collected during the baseline phase (Scruggs & Mastropieri, 2013). Post-intervention data points that exceeded the participant's highest baseline point were counted for each participant and turned into a ratio, specifically of points that exceeded the highest

baseline data point to all data collected during post intervention. This ratio was then multiplied by 100 to calculate a percentage representing the intervention's effectiveness. The researcher calculated and recorded each participant's PND value for each dependent variable in the study. The researcher then combined and averaged all the participants' PND values, for each dependent variable, to create a mean PND value for each dependent variable for the study as a whole. (Scruggs & Mastropieri, 2013).

2.5 Conducting Visual Analysis

To further assess study outcomes, visual analysis was conducted on the 17 studies that received a study design quality rating of *meets WWC standards with reservations*. When a study presented more than one result visually, the researcher chose to report on holistic text quality, as it is one of the more common measures used in writing strategy research. If holistic text quality was not present, genre elements was chosen, as this measure is also common in writing strategy research. The primary researcher analyzed one of each study's outcome measures and data using the following six data patterns: (1) level; (2) trend variability; (3) the immediacy of effect; (4) overlap of data points; (5) variability; and (6) consistency in results across phases within the same conditions (Ledford & Gast, 2018). The level refers to the mean score of the data for each phase of the study. Trend variability deals with the slope of the line of best fit of the data during a distinct phase. Trend variability was assessed using the split-middle technique. The first step in this technique was to locate the mid-date and mid-rate of the data for each participant. If there was an even number of data points on a participant's graph, the mid-date was located by drawing a vertical line to split the data points into two halves (Ledford & Gast, 2018). If there was an odd number of data points, a line was placed vertically through the middle data point to ensure the data points were split half on the left and half on the right of the vertical line. Next, the mid-rate

was located by observing each of the two halves created by the vertical line, and determining the median point for each half of the graph. A vertical line was then drawn to indicate the mid-rate for each half of the data. Finally, the researcher drew a diagonal line connecting the mid-date and mid-rate. After the line was placed, it was moved so an equal number of data points were above and below the line. Finally, the line was viewed to determine if a trend was present and the variability of the trend. If an upward line formed, there was an ascending trend in the data, and if a downward line formed there was a descending trend in the data (Ledford & Gast, 2018).

The immediacy of effect was determined by analyzing the extent to which data immediately changed after a phase change (increasing if behavior is desired and decreasing for undesirable behavior). Variability concerns the value similarity of data points in the same phase. Overlap of data points was calculated when the mean PND values were determined. Finally, consistency of data pattern involved looking at the data from all participants in the same phase, for example all data for participants in the baseline phase, to determine how consistent the data patterns were across the study. It is important to note that the researcher observed these six data patterns simultaneously for each phase.

The researcher then followed the criteria established by Busacca and colleagues (2015) in accordance with WWC standards, to determine study validity. This resulted in the generation of one of the following ratings: strong evidence, moderate evidence or weak evidence of each intervention's effectiveness. The ratings criteria to determine existence of a functional relationship created by Busacca et al. (2015) are outlined below:

1. Six or more data points in the baseline phase and three or more data points in the subsequent phases with no non-effects, receive a rating of strong evidence.

- 2. Six or more data points in the baseline phase and three or more data points in the subsequent phases with one non-effect, receive a rating of moderate evidence.
- 3. Six or more data points in the baseline phase and three or more data points in the subsequent phases with two or more non-effects or the absence of three data points in intervention, post-intervention, and maintenance phases (if applicable), receive a rating of weak/no evidence.
- 4. If a study did not have a minimum of six points in the baseline phase, but still had three or more data points in the subsequent phases with zero non-effects, it will receive a rating of moderate evidence.

Examples of non-effects include the presence of an ascending trend in the baseline phase, a descending trend in post-intervention phases and high variability within the data.

Chapter 3

3 Results

3.1 Selected Studies and Participants

This meta-analysis reviewed 36 studies, with a total of 217 participants. A brief overview of the studies included in the meta-analysis is shown below in Table 3. All studies included one, two, or three of the following dependent variables: holistic text quality, genre elements and word count. It is important to note that two studies reported two PND values for the same variable (one for each group of participants in their study).
Table 3

Researcher & Year	Design	n	Grade	Exceptionality	Type of Writing Strategy Instruction	Quality Rating	PND Holistic Text Quality	PND Genre Elements	PND Word Count	Visual Analysis Results
Zumbrunn & Bruning, 2013	MBD	6	1	Not specified/ struggling writers	SRSD instruction	Meets WWC standards with reservations	59.7	59.7	58.3	Weak evidence
Asaro- Saddler, 2014	MPD	3	2	ASD	SRSD instruction	Does not meet WWC standards	100	100	88.6	
Lane et al., 2010	MPD	13	2	EBD	SRSD instruction	Meets WWC standards with reservations	Internal behaviours: 96.4 External behaviours: 81.0	Internal behaviours: 79.7 External behaviours: 100	Internal behaviours 69.0 External behaviours 87.6	Moderate evidence
Lane et al., 2008	MBD	6	2	At risk for EBD	SRSD instruction	Meets WWC standards with reservations	N/A	100	N/A	Moderate evidence

Overview of Studies Included in Meta-Analysis, By Type of Writing Strategy Instruction and Grade Level

Little et al., 2010	MPD	13	2	EBD and LD	SRSD instruction, schoolwide positive behavioural support	Meets WWC standards with reservations	58.3	100	83.3	Weak evidence
Adkins & Gavins, 2012	MBD	3	2 & 3	EBD	SRSD instruction	Does not meet WWC standards	100	100	100	
Asaro- Saddler & Saddler, 2010	MBD	3	2 & 4	ASD	SRSD instruction	Does not meet WWC standards	91.7	100	91.7	
Asaro- Saddler & Bak, 2012	MBD	3	3 & 4	ASD	SRSD instruction	Does not meet WWC standards	100	100	55.5	
Rogers & Graham, 2020	MPD	6	3 & 4	Struggling writers	SRSD instruction	Does not meet WWC standards	33.3	93.3	33.3	
Grünke et al., 2019	MBD	4	4	LD	SRSD instruction	Ineligible	N/A	100	100	
Ciullo et al., 2021	MBD	8	4 & 5	LD	SRSD instruction	Meets WWC standards with reservations	N/A	98.2	N/A	Moderate evidence
Harris et al., 2019	MBD	8	4 & 5	LD, struggling writers	SRSD instruction	Does not meet WWC standards	95.8	100	56.3	

Lushen et al., 2012	MBD	3	4 & 5	LD, struggling writers	SRSD instruction	Does not meet WWC standards	88.9	100	44.5	
FitzPatrick & McKeown, 2021	MPD	8	5	LD, struggling writers	SRSD instruction	Does not meet WWC standards	37.5	100	N/A	
Mason & Shriner, 2008	MPD	6	2,3,4,5	EBD	SRSD instruction	Does not meet WWC standards	N/A	100	N/A	
Mourgkasi & Mavropoulou, 2018	MBD	3	3,4,5,6	ASD	SRSD instruction	Ineligible	55.6	66.7	11.1	
Cuenca- Carlino & Mustian, 2013	MPD	9	4,5,6	EBD	SRSD instruction	Meets WWC standards with reservations	96.3	96.8	N/A	Weak evidence
Shen & Troia, 2018	MPD	3	4,5,6	LD	SRSD instruction	Does not meet WWC standards	N/A	100	N/A	
Saddler et al., 2017	MBD	6	5&6	EBD	SRSD instruction	Does not meet WWC standards	100	N/A	N/A	
Saddler et al., 2019	MBD	3	5&6	LD	SRSD instruction	Meets WWC standards with reservations	100	N/A	N/A	Weak evidence

YazarSoyad , 2021	MPD	3	5,6,7	LD	SRSD instruction	Meets WWC standards with reservations	100	N/A	N/A	Moderate evidence
Kroesch et al, 2022	MPD	6	6	LD	SRSD instruction	Meets WWC standards with reservations	100	100	N/A	Weak evidence
Mason et al., 2011	MBD	16	7	LD	SRSD instruction	Does not meet WWC standards	Study 1: 56.0 Study 2: 62.0	Study 1: 94.0 Study 2: 77.0	N/A	
FitzPatrick & McKeown, 2020	MPD	6	6,7,8	LD	SRSD instruction	Does not meet WWC standards	100	91.7	91.7	
Mason et al., 2010	MPD	5	7 & 8	EBD	SRSD instruction	Does not meet WWC standards	84.0	N/A	N/A	
Cramer & Mason, 2014	MPD	8	7&8	EBD	SRSD instruction	Does not meet WWC standards	95.8	58.3	54.1	
Mastropieri et al., 2014	MPD	12	7&8	EBD	SRSD instruction	Meets WWC standards with reservations	100	100	N/A	Weak evidence

Hauth et al., 2013	MBD	8	8	LD, struggling writers	SRSD instruction	Does not meet WWC standards	100	100	100	
Mastropieri et al., 2009	MBD	12	8	EBD	SRSD instruction	Does not meet WWC standards	100	100	N/A	
Miller & Little, 2018	MPD	3	3	LD	SRSD instruction, video self- monitoring	Meets WWC standards with reservations	75.7	84.7	62.5	Weak evidence
Curcic & Platt, 2019	MBD	3	3	LD	POWER instruction	Meets WWC standards with reservations	N/A	N/A	100	Moderate evidence
Pennington et al., 2011	MBD	3	2,3,4,5	ASD	Simultaneous prompting and computer- assisted instruction	Meets WWC standards with reservations	N/A	100	N/A	Moderate evidence
Launder et al., 2022	MPD	4	4 & 5	ASD	Virtual procedural facilitator training	Meets WWC standards with reservations	N/A	100	N/A	Moderate evidence

Nobel et al., 2021	MBD	3	5&6	ASD	Response prompting procedure	Meets WWC standards with reservations	97.0	N/A	N/A	Moderate evidence
Bishop et al., 2015	MBD	3	7&8	ASD	Graphic organizer training package	Meets WWC standards with reservations	100	N/A	60.1	Weak evidence
Unzueta & Barbetta, 2012	MBD	4	7&8	LD	Computer graphic organizer	Meets WWC standards with reservations	N/A	N/A	76.4	Moderate evidence

Of the 36 studies in this meta-analysis, 27 reported PND values or data required to calculate PND values for holistic text quality ranging from 33.3 to 100.0 percent. The average holistic text quality PND value of the 27 studies was 85.0 percent. Of the 27 studies, 20 had a PND value between 80.0 and 100.0 percent, five had a PND value between 50.0 and 79.0 percent, and two had a PND value between 0.0 and 49.0 percent (See Appendix C for the mean PND holistic text quality values for each study).

Of the 36 studies in this meta-analysis, 28 reported PND values or the data required to calculate PND value for genre elements ranging from 58.3 percent to 100.0 percent. The average genre elements PND value of the 28 studies was 93.3 percent. Of the 28 studies, 25 had a PND value between 80.1 and 100.0 percent, five had a PND value between 50.0 and 80.0 percent and no studies had a PND value between 0.0 and 49.0 percent (see Appendix D for the mean PND genre elements values for each study).

Of the 36 studies in this meta-analysis, 19 reported PND values or the data required to calculate PND values for word count, with values ranging between 11.1 percent to 100.0 precent. The average word count PND value for the 19 studies was 71.2 percent. Of the 19 studies, nine had a PND value between 80.0 and 100.0 percent, eight had a PND value between 50.0 and 79.0 percent and three had a PND value between 0.0 and 49.0 percent. Refer to Appendix E for the mean PND word count values for each study.

3.1.1 What Works Clearinghouse Quality Indicators

Although most studies in this meta-analysis reported high PND values, many studies scored low in WWC quality ratings. Of the studies included in this meta-analysis, none

met *WWC standards without reservations*; 17 studies received a rating of *does not meet WWC standards* and 17 studies received a rating of *meets WWC standards with reservations*. One main reason studies received low ratings in this quality assessment was that they failed to meet the three concurrence standards for multiple baseline and multiple probe designs, so they automatically received a rating of *does not meet WWC standards*, as outlined below:

- Tiers must be organized to allow for vertical comparison, meaning that all data points at time one for every tier must be collected before all the data points at time two for every tier, and so on. One should assume this standard is met, unless authors provide evidence of nonconcurrence, such as describing the design as a nonconcurrent multiple baseline or graphing data in a way that suggests nonconcurrence (WWC, 2022). This standard was the main reason for studies in this meta-analysis failing to meet concurrence requirements.
- 2. All tiers must have data collected in the baseline phase prior to moving into the intervention phase for any participant (WWC, 2022).
- 3. Participants that have not yet received the intervention must have data at or after the time another participant enters the intervention (WWC, 2022).

Additionally, most studies did not meet the requirements for the number of data points per phase (six in the baseline and five in the subsequent phases), instead often having only three points per phase, resulting in studies automatically at best being rated *meets WWC standards with reservations*. As previously mentioned, a second reviewer rated the study quality of one-third of studies included in this quality analysis. Inter-rater reliability on study quality ratings was $\kappa = .47$, p=.02.

3.2 Results of Visual Analysis

All 17 studies rated *meets WWC standards with reservations* presented the data of at least one of the dependent variables in a visual format. The primary researcher holistically evaluated the studies for each of the six visual analysis data patterns previously mentioned and followed Busacca and colleagues (2015) visual analysis rating criteria. The visual analysis results are presented in Table 3 and revealed that studies received a rating of moderate or weak evidence of study validity despite high PND values and increase in level between baseline and post-intervention phases. Strong evidence was not reported for two main reasons: (1) having one or more non-effects present (mainly having more than two upward trending data points in the baseline, or more than two descending trending data points in the post-intervention phase); and (2) having insufficient datapoints in the baseline phase (less than six datapoints).

3.3 Do Studies Deemed Higher Quality Based on What Works Clearinghouse Indicators Have More or Less Overlap Than Those Deemed Lower Quality?

Each study was assessed for study quality using the WWC (2022) quality indicators, during the data extraction process. A between groups t-test was completed to compare the holistic text quality, genre elements and word count mean PND values, of the *meets WWC standards with reservations* group and *does not meet WWC standards* groups. Below, Figure 2 shows the mean PND holistic text quality values of the two groups. Studies that *did not meet WWC standards* had a mean holistic text quality PND value of 84.1 percent (SD=23.32), while studies that *meet WWC standards with reservations* had a mean value of 88.7 percent (SD=16.00). These



The Relationship Between Study Quality and Mean PND Holistic Text Quality Values

findings show that PND values did not differ significantly by study quality t(26) = .59, p = .56, Cohen's d = .23.

The relationship between study quality and mean PND genre elements values for the two groups, is shown below in Figure 3. As seen in Figure 3, studies in the *does not meet WWC standards* group had a mean genre elements PND value of 94.6 percent (SD=11.43), while the *meets standards with reservation* group had a mean PND value of 93.3 percent (SD=12.57). This suggests that overlap did not significantly differ between low and medium quality studies t(26) = -.30, p = .76, Cohen's d = .11.



The Relationship Between Study Quality and Mean PND Genre Elements Values

With respect to word count, Figure 4 below shows the comparison between the two groups' mean PND word count values. Figure 4 illustrates that studies in the *does not meet WWC standards group* had a mean PND word count value of 71.6 percent (SD=25.19). The *meets standards with reservations* group had a mean PND value of 74.7. percent (SD=14.87), suggesting that the overlap did not differ significantly by study quality, t(16) = .31, p = .76, Cohen's d = 0.15.

The Relationship Between Study Quality Scores and Mean PND Word Count Values



3.4 Is Writing Strategy Instruction More Effective in Some Grade Levels Than Others?

When analyzing the data, the grade of study participants was considered, and studies were divided into two groups: (1) studies with participants in Grades 1 to 4; and (2) studies with participants in Grades 5 to 8. There were cases in which study participants overlapped between these two categories; the researcher excluded these studies from the analysis. In total, 27 out of the 36 studies in this meta-analysis were included in the consideration of writing instruction effectiveness based on grade level. Of the 27 studies included, 23 reported PND values or data for PND value calculations for holistic text quality. Below, Figure 5 below shows the comparison between the mean PND holistic text quality values for the two grade groups in this analysis.

Comparison Between Mean PND Holistic Text Quality Values for Students in Gr.1-4

and 5-8



As seen above, students in the Grade 1-4 group had a mean holistic text quality PND value of 79.6 percent (SD= 22.82), indicating that writing strategy instruction was moderately effective for this group. However, the Grade 5-8 group had a mean PND value of 88.8 percent (SD= 20.17), indicating that writing strategy instruction was very effective in improving participants' holistic text quality. However, holistic text quality did not differ significantly between grade levels t(23) = -1.06, p = .30, Cohen's d = 0.43.

With respect to genre elements, 19 of the 27 studies in this analysis reported PND values or the data to calculate PND values. Figure 6 shows the comparison in

Comparison Between Mean PND Genre Elements Values for Students in Grades1 to 4

and 5 to 8



mean PND values for genre elements between participants in Grades 1 to 4 and Grades 5 to 8. As shown in Figure 6, participants in Grades 1 to 4 had a mean PND value of 93.1 percent (SD = 12.60) and participants in Grades 5 to 8 had a value of 91.2 percent (SD = 14.90), which did not differ significantly t(19) = .32, p = .75, Cohen's d = 0.14) and which suggests that writing strategy instruction was highly effective for both groups but did not significantly differ between the two.

Regarding word count, 16 of the 27 studies reported PND values or the data required to calculate PND data. Below, Figure 7 shows the comparison between the mean word count PND values for participants in Grades 1 to 4 and participants in Grades 5 to 8.

Comparison Between Mean PND Word Count Values for Students in Grades 1 to 4

and Grades 5 to 8



As seen above, participants in Grades 1 to 4 had a mean PND word count value of 77.4 percent (SD = 21.50), while participants in the Grades 5 to 8 group had a value of 76.5 percent (SD = 19.71, t(15) = .091, p = .93, Cohen's d = 0.05.) suggesting that writing strategy instruction was somewhat effective at improving word count for both groups and that there was no significant differences between the two groups.

3.5 Is Writing Strategy Instruction More Beneficial for Certain Types of Exceptionalities

After the initial data collection, studies in this meta-analysis were sorted by study samples, which identified three main samples: (1) students diagnosed with autism spectrum disorder (ASD); (2) students diagnosed or with a suspected diagnosis

of an emotional behavioural disorder (EBD); and (3) students with a learning disability (LD) and/or struggling writers. Table 4 below provides an overview of the number of studies conducted with each sample. As shown in Table 4, the sample in eight of the studies consisted only of participants with ASD. Of these eight studies, six reported PND values or the data required to calculate PND values for holistic text quality, and those PND values ranged between 55.6 percent to 100 percent. The average PND holistic text quality value of the six studies was 90.7 percent. Of the eight studies with ASD participants, six studies reported PND values for genre elements, and those PND values ranged between 66.7 to 100.0 percent. The average genre elements PND value of the six studies was 94.5 percent. Finally, of the eight studies with ASD participants, five reported word count PND values ranged between 11.1 and 91.7 percent. The average word count PND value in the five studies was 61.4 percent.

Table 4

Overview of Study Samples Analyzed in Meta-Analysis

Study Sample	Number of Studies
ASD	8
EBD/suspected EBD	11
LD and/or struggling writers	18

Note: One study included students with both EBD/suspected EBD and LD and/or

struggling writers and therefore that study was included in both categories.

As set out in Table 4, the sample in 11 of the studies consisted of participants with

EBD/suspected EBD. Nine of these studies reported PND values or the data required to

calculate PND values for holistic text quality, and those PND values ranged between 58.3 to 100.0 percent. The average holistic text quality PND value in the nine studies was 91.2 percent. Nine studies also reported PND values, or the data required to calculate PND values for genre elements, and those PND values ranged between 58.3 to 100.0 percent. The average genre elements PND value in the nine studies was 93.5 percent. Finally, four of the 11 studies reported the data required to calculate PND values for word count, and those PND values ranged between 54.1 to 100.0 percent. The average word count PND value in the four studies was 78.8 percent.

The sample in 18 of the studies in this analysis consisted of participants with LD and/or struggling writers, as set out in Table 4. Of these 18 studies, 13 reported the data required to calculate PND values for holistic text quality, and those PND values ranged between 33.3 to 100.0 percent. The average holistic text quality PND value in the 13 studies was 76.2 percent, suggesting that intervention was moderately effective in improving the holistic text quality for this population.

With respect to LD and/or struggling writers and genre elements, 14 of the 18 studies reported PND values or sufficient data to calculate PND values, and those PND values ranged between 59.7 to 100.0 percent. The average genre elements PND value in the 14 studies was 93.2 percent, indicating that writing strategy instruction was highly effective for students with LD and/or struggling writers. Regarding word count, 11 of the 18 studies reported the required data to calculate PND values. Word count PND values in the 11 studies ranged between 33.3 and 100.0 percent. The average word count PND value in the 11 studies was 73.3 percent.

3.5.1 Comparison Among Study Samples

Figure 8 shows the mean holistic text quality score for each of the three exceptionalities.

Figure 8

Mean PND Holistic Text Quality Values for Each Exceptionality



As shown above, the EBD/suspected EBD sample had a mean PND holistic text quality value of 91.7 (SD=13.43) and the ASD study sample had a mean PND value of 90.7 (SD=18.90). The LD and/or struggling writers' sample had a mean PND value of 76.2 percent (SD=24.68) suggesting that writing strategy instruction was only moderately effective for that sample. These values suggest there is no significant differences between the groups F(3) = 1.75, $n^2 = .12$, p=.19.

The mean PND values for genre elements for the three different study samples are highlighted below in Figure 9. As seen below, all three study samples have very similar mean PND values, with the ASD group having a mean value of 94.5 (*SD*= 13.59), the EBD/suspected EBD group having a mean value of 95 (*SD*=13.89) and the LD and/or struggling writers' group having a mean value of 93.5 percent (*SD*=11.51). Thus, suggesting that there is no significant differences between groups F(2)=.020, $n^2=.001$, P=.98.

Figure 9

Mean PND Genre Elements Values for Each Exceptionality



Finally, the mean PND word count values for the three study samples are shown below in Figure 10. As shown below, the mean PND word count value of 78.8 percent (SD=17.70) for the EBD/suspected EBD population indicated moderate effectiveness of writing strategy instruction. The ASD and LD and/or struggling writers study populations also seemed to have moderately benefited from the instruction, as their mean PND word count values were 61.4 for the ASD group (SD=32.50) and 73.3 for the LD and/or struggling writers' group (SD=23.76). This suggests there are no significant differences between the groups (F(2) = .66, $n^2 = .068$, p = .53).

Figure 10

Mean PND Word Count Value for Each Exceptionality



Chapter 4

4 Discussion

Teaching children how to write provides them with critical skills important for school and future success (Miller & McCardle, 2010). This purpose of this meta-analysis was to systematically review the literature conducted in the 15 years since the metaanalysis of Rogers and Graham (2008), on the effectiveness of single-subject design writing strategy instruction for students in Grades 1 to 8. Also, this meta-analysis added to the literature by exploring and providing an up-to-date review on the effectiveness of writing strategy interventions for students with various exceptionalities.

Consistent with Rogers and Graham (2008) meta-analysis, the effectiveness of writing strategy instruction was supported in the present meta-analysis. Specifically, in the 36 studies reviewed in this meta-analysis, the mean PND values for holistic text quality, genre elements and word count indicated that overall, there were low overlap values suggesting positive effects of writing strategy instruction for students in Grades 1 to 8. However, these positive results should be received in the context of low to moderate visual analysis and quality results, and use of appropriate statistics, as addressed later in this discussion.

This meta-analysis was able to review and include a study conducted with Grade 1 students. Whereas Rogers and Graham (2008) found that writing strategy instruction was effective, at that time no studies had been conducted with Grade 1 students. When considering whether writing strategy instruction is more beneficial for some grade levels than others, we found that writing strategy instruction was highly effective for improving the holistic text quality of participants' writing in Grades 5 to 8, with a higher PND value in holistic text quality, than students in Grades 1 to 4. However, high PND values indicated that writing strategy instruction, for both ranges of grade groups, was highly effective in improving genre elements values, and moderately effective in improving word count values.

One explanation for students having higher holistic text quality PND values in the Grades 5-8 group than the Grades 1-4 group, may be due to the development of transcription skills. The IDL model indicates that one of the main skills determining the quality of writing for early elementary students are their transcription skills, that is, handwriting fluency and spelling accuracy (Kim et al., 2020). Because they are still developing their fine motor skills, students in lower elementary Grades 1-4 have been shown to have weaker transcription skills than students in upper elementary Grades 5-8 (Salas & Silvente, 2019). Thus, students in the lower elementary grades may put more cognitive effort into their transcription efforts, leaving less energy and focus to put toward sentence and idea formation (Limpo et al., 2017).

This research expanded on the previous Rogers and Graham (2008) analysis by exploring the effectiveness of writing instruction for students with various exceptionalities. Writing strategy instruction was moderately effective in improving holistic text quality for writers with LD and/or struggling writers, and highly effective for writers with ASD and EBD/suspected EBD. Across all three exceptionality groups, PND values indicated writing strategy instruction was highly effective in increasing the number of genre elements included in participants' writing. Furthermore, PND values showed writing strategy instruction was somewhat effective at increasing the word count for all study samples. One reason for students in the ASD and EBD/suspected EBD groups having larger PND values could be the explicit instruction of self-regulation skills. Research has shown that executive functioning skills influence student writing abilities (Kim, 2020). Students with ASD and EBD/suspected EBD exceptionalities tend to have difficulties with executive functioning (Cumming et al., 2022; Gentil-Gutiérrez et al., 2022). Writing strategy instruction focuses on teaching students these skills, specifically self-regulation (e.g., positive self-talk), providing direct instruction in an area in which they experience a deficit. Furthermore, the absence of statistically significant differences in results across the exceptionality groups could be because there were only a few studies in each sample. If students and not studies were the unit of analysis, the results would most likely be significant, as the sample would be much larger. This is important to note, as larger sample sizes strengthen the statistical power, thus increasing the likelihood of the results being significant.

Finally, an important finding in this meta-analysis concerns study quality, methods, and the outcomes from visual analyses. Generally speaking, design quality of studies in this meta-analysis were found to be poor to acceptable and when evaluated according to WWC standards, were found to *not meet WWC* standards or *meets WWC standards with reservations*. One main reason for poor quality findings was that researchers failed to meet the concurrence requirement; future researchers should take this requirement into consideration when creating their study designs.

Another reason for poor to acceptable quality findings was that studies typically included three to five data points during baseline and subsequent phases, while WWC standards require six data points during baseline phase and at least five data points for

subsequent phases. However, the typical use of three to five data points during baseline and subsequent phases may have occurred because study standards regarding data points have risen since some of the studies in this meta-analysis were conducted. More specifically, WWC quality standards did not exist at the time of Rogers and Graham (2008) meta-analysis. Instead, they relied upon Horner's (2005) study quality indicators, which required studies to have three or more data points in the baseline phase to receive the highest study quality rating. In 2010, when WWC issued their guidelines for rating study quality of single-subject designs, three data points per phase was still the highest standard, the same as Horner's requirement. Therefore, while subsequent researchers may have corrected or improved upon study failings noted by Rogers and Graham (e.g., not adequately describing participants, not describing study selection criteria, not providing information to confirm treatment fidelity, not establishing experimental control), they likely still followed the quality indicator of three data points in the baseline phase, as that was the standard at the time.

However, in 2014, WWC standards were revised to require five data points per phase and revised again in 2020 to require the current six data points in the baseline and five data points in subsequent phases (WWC, 2014; WWC, 2020). Thus, the standards for SSDs have significantly risen over time, causing studies reviewed in Rogers and Graham (2008) analysis and studies published before 2014 in the current meta-analysis to have possibly received a higher quality rating at the time of their publication, but a revised poor to acceptable rating since 2014. These findings are important to consider when interpreting past studies and when structuring future single-subject studies to meet current WWC standards. Specifically, future research should aim to meet WWC (2022) concurrence standards and data point requirements to ensure consistency in quality and in reviewing studies.

However, it should be noted that studies in this analysis may have been unable to collect adequate data points due to researchers struggling to persuade participants to engage in multiple writing activities. This could be because participants participating in writing strategy instruction research are often not strong writers and may dislike writing (Kim et al., 2014). This raises ethical considerations for researchers that may affect their ability to conduct studies that meet the highest WWC standards. While studies should aim for the required data points, the ethical considerations raised suggest that appropriate methods for single-subject designs in writing instruction may need to be reconsidered, to account for situations relating to participants' inability to complete multiple writing samples.

This analysis also reported on the results of visual analyses conducted on studies rated *meets WWC standards with reservations*, which showed studies had moderate or weak evidence of study validity despite reporting high PND values and increasing levels between baseline and post-intervention phase. The finding of moderate or weak evidence of study validity was mainly due to studies having more than two upward trending data points in the baseline, more than two descending trending data points in the post-intervention phase, or less than six data points in the baseline phase and five data points in each subsequent phase. As previously discussed, students experiencing fatigue or refusing to write may have contributed to less than the required data points per phase, or studies may have been conducted before the new data points standards came into effect. With respect to upwards phase trends in the baseline, three data points may not provide

enough data to accurately demonstrate a stable pattern, which could threaten study validity and which study researchers failed to correct for by using a statistic that accounts for trends in baseline. These issues should be corrected in future studies.

While study quality was clearly an issue in this meta-analysis, study quality did not appear to affect study outcomes. It is important to note that studies were analyzed to determine if their poor to acceptable study design quality affected study outcomes. The results of that analysis showed no apparent relationship between study quality and PND values for holistic text quality, genre elements and word count. This result is important in terms of supporting this review's finding of the positive effects of writing strategy instruction for students in Grades 1 to 8.

Finally, in the past 15 years, there has been an influx of research on early writing intervention, especially quasi-experimental studies (Klein et al., 2021; Mazeh & Safa, 2020; Mason et al., 2017), which support the positive effects of writing strategy instruction and particularly when combined with SRSD on young writers. These positive findings regarding young writers are similar to and confirm the findings of the present meta-analysis, that writing strategy instruction has positive effects for young writers.

Additionally, there have been meta-analyses of other quasi-experimental and experimental studies which have addressed writing strategy instruction and LD exceptionalities. These findings support the positive effects of writing strategy instruction for LD students (Rouse & Graham, 2014) and are similar to the positive findings of this current analysis with respect to writing strategy instruction and LD students. As such, the current SSD meta-analysis and its studies, together with the above meta-analyses, may provide further support for the positive findings, suggesting they are replicable, regarding writing strategy instruction, young learners and writers with LD exceptionalities.

4.1 **Practical Implications**

Previous quasi-experimental research supports the positive effects of writing strategy instruction conducted in a Tier 1 or class-wide setting, where all students are taught the core curriculum, or even in a Tier 2 setting if the group is large enough (Graham et al., 2012). The findings and studies of the current analysis may also support the use of writing strategy instruction in a Tier 2 setting, where students are placed in very small groups based on a low initial score or low progress so they can receive additional individual support. Additionally, this analysis supports the use of writing strategy instruction in a Tier 3 or one-on-one setting, where students were receiving instruction from a specialist after persistently not progressing in Tier 2. Based on these findings, educators can utilize writing strategy instruction with students in Grades 1 to 8 across the narrative and persuasive writing genres. This may be helpful for teachers who utilize a response to intervention method in schools, as instruction can be used and be beneficial for the entire class in Tier 1, or for smaller groups requiring Tier 2, and then be tailored for students who need additional one-on-one Tier 3 interventions (Graham et al., 2012).

Furthermore, this is currently the only proven intervention for written expression for students with ASD, EBD/suspected EBD and LD and/or struggling writers. This may be useful for teachers and/or learning support teachers, as they can use writing strategy instruction to help students with these exceptionalities who struggle with writing and may need additional one-on-one support outside of the class-wide setting.

4.2 Limitations and Future Study Directions

A limitation of this analysis was the use of PND as the only effect size measure. As noted, PND was useful for the researcher as it was the outcome measure used by Rogers and Graham (2008), the starting point for this analysis. The PND effect size index proposed by Scruggs and Mastropieri (2013) was also followed by previous studies included in this analysis as well as the current analysis. As such, PND allowed the researcher to make comparisons across different studies. However, it has been argued that PND is not a true effect size measure because it does not fully document the magnitude of the effect size or the magnitude of change between baseline and intervention phases. For example, two studies with 100% nonoverlap could have phases that differ by either a small magnitude or a large magnitude. Additionally, PND may be impacted by a single extreme or outlier data point in the baseline phase (which may also not be a reliable data point for the reason that it is the most extreme). In that case, the outlier data point could for example be higher than most of the intervention points, and an incorrect effect size may result. Finally, although the researchers did conduct visual analyses to assess whether trends occurred in the data, PND itself does not account for possible trends that can occur in the baseline or intervention phases. This is a concern, as it suggests that student improvements are due to an external factor and not the intervention, or that student performance would increase in the next phase regardless of whether the intervention had any effect. To address this issue, future research could be conducted using other outcome measures such as Tau-U, which accounts for trends in the baseline and allows the researcher to consider treatment effects with both between-phase differences and within-phase trends. Thus, other statistics may be better indicators for determining study effectiveness.

Another limitation of this analysis is that it only considered writing strategy instruction for elementary students. Future research should be conducted on students across all grade levels of primary, secondary, and post-secondary education, to determine if the impact of writing strategy instruction differs across grade levels. Furthermore, studies that included participants in multiple grade levels that span across the two groups, namely Grades 1 to 4 and Grades 5 to 8, were not included in the grade level analysis.

While results from the visual analysis conducted by the primary researcher on studies that were rated *meets WWC standards with reservations* did point out important findings regarding the evidence of study validity, it should be noted that ratings from the visual analyses can differ across raters, making a second rater for visual analyses more desirable (Ledford & Gast, 2018). Alternatively, future research should consider conducting statistical analyses to check visual analyses. For example, standard deviation can be used to check for variation that may occur during baseline phases and Tau-U can be used to detect trends in the baseline.

Future research should also focus on meeting WWC (2022) quality standards as they relate to the three concurrence standards for single-subject designs. The quality assessment of studies in this meta-analysis revealed an important finding, specifically, that many studies failed to meet the three concurrence standards for multiple baseline and multiple probe designs. Thus, future research should consider these standards when establishing study design to ensure that data will be collected and displayed in a way that allows for vertical comparison among the participants.

Finally, as previously mentioned, research suggests that the core skills of reading and writing are related, meaning that students who experience writing challenges are also likely to experience reading challenges (Kim, 2020). One of the core skills writing and reading share is executive functioning, and specifically self-regulation and working memory. Future research should explore whether self-regulation skills taught during writing strategy instruction could be applied to reading and the challenges experienced during reading instruction (Kim, 2020).

Chapter 5

5 Conclusion

This meta-analysis aimed to critically review the literature on the effectiveness of single-subject design writing strategy interventions for students in Grades 1 to 8, since the last review of this literature by Rogers and Graham (2008). This was achieved by analyzing single-subject design studies on writing strategy research and combining each study's mean PND values for holistic text quality, genre elements and word count. Additionally, the PND values were further compared with respect to the following variables: (1) study samples, (2) quality ratings, and (3) grade level. Overall, mean PND values for holistic text quality indicated that writing strategy instruction is very effective in improving these writing components, while the mean PND value for word count indicated that writing strategy instruction is somewhat effective.

Writing strategy instruction was found to be effective in improving holistic text quality for students with ASD and EBD/suspected EBD, and somewhat effective in improving holistic text quality for students with LD and/or struggling writers. Writing strategy instruction was also highly effective in increasing the genre elements in participants' writing across all exceptionality groups, and somewhat effective at increasing the word count for all exceptionality groups. Additionally, there was no significant difference between any of the dependent variables and study quality. Comparing PND values across grade levels suggested a slight difference only in participants' holistic text quality, however this difference was not statistically significant. The PND values for holistic text quality and genre elements suggested that writing strategy instruction was very effective for both grade groups. Finally, although study quality was generally found to be poor to acceptable, PND values did not differ significantly between higher quality and lower quality studies. While studies in this meta-analysis reported high PND values to support the effectiveness of writing strategy instruction, these PND values should be considered in the context of visual analysis results that indicated weak to moderate study validity, mainly as a result of insufficient data points and the presence of trends in phases. Appropriate statistics should be used in future to account for such trends and to increase study validity.

As noted above, the PND values for students in Grades 1-4 and for the LD and/or struggling writers study population only showed moderate effectiveness. This may be because students in the lower elementary grades and with LD and/or struggling writers are more likely to have weaker transcription skills (Kim et al., 2014). Future research should be done to explore these questions. Finally, when designing writing interventions using a single-subject design methodology, researchers should consider the statistic used, the number of data points collected during each phase, and ensure their study meets concurrence standards to ensure that study design is of high quality.

References

Studies with an asterisk beside them were included in this meta-analysis.

- *Adkins, M. H., & Gavins, M. V. (2012). Self-regulated strategy development and generalization instruction: Effects on story writing and personal narratives among students with severe emotional and behavioral disorders. *Exceptionality*, 20(4), 235–249. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09362835.2012.724625</u>
- American Psychological Association. (2023). APA PsycInfo APA Publishing | APA. *Https://Www.apa.org.* https://www.apa.org/pubs/databases/psycinfo
- *Asaro-Saddler, K. (2014). Self-regulated strategy development: Effects on writers with autism spectrum disorders. *Education and Training in Autism and Developmental Disabilities*, 49(1), 78–91. https://www.jstor.org/stable/23880656
- *Asaro-Saddler, K., & Bak, N. (2012). Teaching children with high-functioning autism spectrum disorders to write persuasive essays. *Topics in Language Disorders*, 32(4), 361–378. https://doi.org/10.1097/tld.0b013e318271813f
- Asaro-Saddler, K., Moeyaert, M., Xu, X., & Yerden, X. (2020). Multilevel meta-analysis of the effectiveness of self-regulated strategy development in writing for children with ASD. *Exceptionality*, 29(2), 1–17.

https://doi.org/10.1080/09362835.2020.1850457

 *Asaro-Saddler, K., & Saddler, B. (2010). Planning instruction and self-regulation training: Effects on writers with autism spectrum disorders. *Exceptional Children*, 77(1), 107–124. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/001440291007700105</u>

- Baer, D. M., Wolf, M. M., & Risley, T. R. (1968). Some current dimensions of applied behavior analysis. *Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis*, 1(1), 91–97.
 https://doi.org/10.1901/jaba.1968.1-91
- Bandura, A. (1991). Social cognitive theory of self-regulation. Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 50(2), 248–287. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0749-</u> 5978(91)90022-1
- Berninger, V. W., & Winn, W. D. (2006). Implications of advancements in brain research and technology for writing development, writing instruction, and educational evolution. In C. A. MacArthur, S. Graham, & J. Fitzgerald (Eds.), *Handbook of writing research* (pp. 96–114). The Guilford Press.
- *Bishop, A. E., Sawyer, M., Alber-Morgan, S. R., & Boggs, M. (2015). Effects of a graphic organizer training package on the persuasive writing of middle school students with autism. *Education and Training in Autism and Developmental Disabilities*, 50(3), 290–302. https://www.jstor.org/stable/24827511
- Busacca, M. L., Anderson, A., & Moore, D. W. (2015). Self-management for primary school students demonstrating problem behavior in regular classrooms: Evidence review of single-case design research. *Journal of Behavioral Education*, 24(4), 373–401. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10864-015-9230-3
- Chandler, M., Gerde, H., Bowles, R., McRoy, K., Pontifex, M., & Bingham, G. (2021). Self-regulation moderates the relationship between fine motor skills and writing in early childhood. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 57, 239–250. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2021.06.010

- *Ciullo, S., Mason, L. H., & Judd, L. (2021). Persuasive quick-writing about text: Intervention for students with learning disabilities. *Behavior Modification*, 45(1), 014544551988289. https://doi.org/10.1177/0145445519882894
- Coker, D. L., Jennings, A. S., Farley-Ripple, E., & MacArthur, C. A. (2018). When the type of practice matters: The relationship between typical writing instruction, student practice, and writing achievement in first grade. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 54, 235–246.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cedpsych.2018.06.013

- *Cramer, A. M., & Mason, L. H. (2014). The effects of strategy instruction for writing and revising persuasive quick writes for middle school students with emotional and behavioral disorders. *Behavioral Disorders*, 40(1), 37–51. https://www.jstor.org/stable/43740431
- *Cuenca-Carlino, Y., & Mustian, A. L. (2013). Self-regulated strategy development: Connecting persuasive writing to self-advocacy for students with emotional and behavioral disorders. *Behavioral Disorders*, 39(1), 3–15.

https://doi.org/10.1177/019874291303900102

- Cumming, M. M., Poling, D. V., Qiu, Y., Prykanowski, D. A., Lumpkins, A., Daunic, A.
 P., Corbett, N., & Smith, S. W. (2022). Executive function profiles of kindergarteners and first graders at risk for emotional and behavioral disorders. *Sage Journal*, 89(3), 294–313. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/00144029221135573</u>
- *Curcic, S., & Platt, S. (2019). Improving writing: Focus on elementary-school African American male students with a learning disability. *Institute of Educational Sciences*, 4(1), 59–73.

- De Vita, F., Schmidt, S., Tinti, C., & Re, A. M. (2021). The role of working memory on writing processes. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.738395
- Denton, C. A., Tolar, T. D., Fletcher, J. M., Barth, A. E., Vaughn, S., & Francis, D. J. (2013). Effects of tier 3 intervention for students with persistent reading difficulties and characteristics of inadequate responders. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *105*(3), 633–648. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0032581</u>
- ERIC Education Resources Information Center. (2019). Ed.gov; Institute of Education Sciences. https://eric.ed.gov/?
- Fidalgo, R., Torrance, M., & García, J.-N. (2008). The long-term effects of strategyfocussed writing instruction for grade six students. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 33(4), 672–693. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cedpsych.2007.09.001
- Fitzgerald, J. (1987). Research on revision in writing. *Review of Educational Research*, 57(4), 481–506. https://doi.org/10.3102/00346543057004481
- *FitzPatrick, E. R., & McKeown, D. (2020). Meeting the needs of middle school writers in a special education classroom: SRSD for the informational genre citing textbased evidence. *Education and Treatment of Children*, 43(1), 71–84. https://doi.org/10.1007/s43494-020-00006-2
- *FitzPatrick, E. R., & McKeown, D. (2021). Writing from multiple source texts: SRSD for fifth grade learners in inclusive settings. *Learning Disabilities Research & Practice*, 36(3). <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ldrp.12257</u>
- Gentil-Gutiérrez, A., Santamaría-Peláez, M., Mínguez-Mínguez, L. A., González-Santos, J., Fernández-Solana, J., & González-Bernal, J. J. (2022). Executive functions in
children and adolescents with autism spectrum disorder, Grade 1 and 2, vs. neurotypical development: A school view. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *19*(13), 7987. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19137987

- Graham, S., & Harris, K. R. (2017). Evidence-based writing practices: A meta-analysis of existing meta-analyses. *Design Principles for Teaching Effective Writing*, 13–37. https://doi.org/10.1163/9789004270480_003
- Graham, S., Harris, K. R., & Mason, L. (2005). Improving the writing performance, knowledge, and self-efficacy of struggling young writers: The effects of selfregulated strategy development. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 30(2), 207–241. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cedpsych.2004.08.001
- Graham, S., McKeown, D., Kiuhara, S., & Harris, K. R. (2012). A meta-analysis of writing instruction for students in the elementary grades. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 104(4), 879–896. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0029185
- Graham, S., & Perin, D. (2007). A meta-analysis of writing instruction for adolescent students. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 99(3), 445–476. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0663.99.3.445
- *Grunke, M., Nobel, K., & Bracht, J. (2019). Effects of the STOP and LIST strategy on the writing performance of struggling fourth graders. *Journal of Education and Learning*, 8(2), 1. https://doi.org/10.5539/jel.v8n2p1
- Harris, K. R., & Graham, S. (2016). Self-regulated strategy development in writing. *Policy Insights from the Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 3(1), 77–84. https://doi.org/10.1177/2372732215624216

- Harris, K. R., Graham, S., & Adkins, M. (2015). Practice-based professional development and self-regulated strategy development for tier 2, at-risk writers in second grade. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 40, 5–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cedpsych.2014.02.003
- Harris, K. R., Graham, S., & Mason, L. H. (2006). Improving the writing, knowledge, and motivation of struggling young writers: Effects of self-regulated strategy development with and without peer support. *American Educational Research Journal*, 43(2), 295–340. https://doi.org/10.3102/00028312043002295
- *Harris, K. R., Ray, A., Graham, S., & Houston, J. (2019). Answering the challenge: SRSD instruction for close reading of text to write to persuade with 4th and 5th grade students experiencing writing difficulties. *Reading and Writing*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11145-018-9910-1
- *Hauth, C., Mastropieri, M., Scruggs, T., & Regan, K. (2013). Can students with emotional and/or behavioral disabilities improve on planning and writing in the content areas of civics and mathematics? *Behavioral Disorders*, *38*(3), 154–170. https://doi.org/10.1177/019874291303800304
- Horner, R. D., & Baer, D. M. (1978). Multiple-probe technique: A variation on the multiple baseline. *Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis*, 11(1), 189–196. <u>https://doi.org/10.1901/jaba.1978.11-189</u>

Horner, R. H., Carr, E. G., Halle, J., McGee, G., Odom, S., & Wolery, M. (2005). The use of single-subject research to identify evidence-based practice in special education. *Exceptional Children*, 71(2), 165–179. https://doi.org/10.1177/001440290507100203 Jstor. (2000). JSTOR. Jstor.org. https://www.jstor.org/

Kim, Y.-S. G. (2020). Interactive dynamic literacy model: An integrative theoretical framework for reading-writing relations. *Literacy Studies*, 11–34. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-38811-9_2

Kim, Y.-S. G., & Schatschneider, C. (2017). Expanding the developmental models of writing: A direct and indirect effects model of developmental writing (DIEW). *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *109*(1), 35–50. https://doi.org/10.1037/edu0000129

Kim, Y.-S., Al Otaiba, S., Folsom, J. S., Greulich, L., & Puranik, C. (2014). Evaluating the dimensionality of first-grade written composition. *Journal of Speech*, *Language, and Hearing Research*, 57(1), 199–211. https://doi.org/10.1044/1092-4388(2013/12-0152)

Klein, P., Bildfell, A., Dombroski, J. D., Giese, C., Sha, K. W.-Y., & Thompson, S. C.
(2021). Self-regulation in early writing strategy instruction. *Reading & Writing Quarterly*, 38(2), 1–25. https://doi.org/10.1080/10573569.2021.1919577

*Konrad, M., Clark, K. A., & Test, D. W. (2016). Effects of GO 4 IT . . . NOW! Strategy instruction on expository writing skills for students with disabilities. *Career Development and Transition for Exceptional Individuals*, 40(1), 45–55. https://doi.org/10.1177/2165143416680884

Kratochwill, T. R., & Levin, J. R. (2010). Enhancing the scientific credibility of singlecase intervention research: Randomization to the rescue. *Psychological Methods*, *15*(2), 124–144. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0017736

- *Kroesch, A. M., Peeples, K. N., Pleasant, C. L., & Cuenca-Carlino, Y. (2022). Let's argue: Developing argumentative writing skills for students with learning disabilities. *Reading & Writing Quarterly*, 38(5), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1080/10573569.2021.1970659
- Lammers, W. J., & Pietro Badia. (2005). *Fundamentals of behavioral research*. Thomson/Wadsworth.
- *Lane, K. L., Graham, S., Harris, K. R., Little, M. A., Sandmel, K., & Brindle, M. (2010). Story writing: The effects of self-regulated strategy development for second grade students with writing and behavioral difficulties. *The Journal of Special Education*, 44(2), 107–128. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022466908331044
- *Lane, K. L., Harris, K. R., Graham, S., Weisenbach, J. L., Brindle, M., & Morphy, P. (2008). The effects of self-regulated strategy development on the writing performance of second-grade students with behavioral and writing difficulties. *The Journal of Special Education*, 41(4), 234–253.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0022466907310370

- *Launder, S. M., Miller, K. M., & Wood, J. (2022). Examining the impact of virtual procedural facilitator training on opinion writing of elementary school-age students with autism spectrum disorders. *ERIC*, *57*(2), 216–228.
- Ledford, J. R., & Gast, D. L. (2018). Single case research methodology: Applications in special education and behavioral sciences. New York Routledge, Taylor Et Francis Group.
- Limpo, T., Alves, R. A., & Connelly, V. (2017). Examining the transcription-writing link: Effects of handwriting fluency and spelling accuracy on writing performance

via planning and translating in middle grades. *Learning and Individual Differences*, *53*, 26–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lindif.2016.11.004

- *Little, M. A., Lane, K. L., Harris, K. R., Graham, S., Story, M., & Sandmel, K. (2010). Self-regulated strategies development for persuasive writing in tandem with schoolwide positive behavioral support: Effects for second-grade students with behavioral and writing difficulties. *Behavioral Disorders*, 35(2), 157–179. https://doi.org/10.1177/019874291003500206
- *Lushen, K., Kim, O., & Reid, R. (2012). Paraeducator-led strategy instruction for struggling writers. *Exceptionality*, 20(4), 250–265. https://doi.org/10.1080/09362835.2012.724626
- Mason, L. H., Cramer, A. M., Garwood, J. D., Varghese, C., Hamm, J., & Murray, A. (2017). Efficacy of self-regulated strategy development instruction for developing writers with and without disabilities in rural schools: A randomized controlled trial. *Rural Special Education Quarterly*, *36*(4), 168–179. https://doi.org/10.1177/8756870517723617
- *Mason, L. H., Kubina, R. M., & Taft, R. J. (2011). Developing quick writing skills of middle school students with disabilities. *The Journal of Special Education*, 44(4), 205–220. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022466909350780
- *Mason, L. H., Kubina, R. M., Valasa, L. L., & Cramer, A. M. (2010). Evaluating effective writing instruction for adolescent students in an emotional and behavior support setting. *Behavioral Disorders*, 35(2), 140–156. https://doi.org/10.1177/019874291003500205

*Mason, L. H., & Shriner, J. G. (2008). Self-regulated strategy development instruction for writing an opinion essay: Effects for six students with emotional/behavior disorders. *Reading and Writing*, 21(1-2), 71–93. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11145-007-9065-y

*Mastropieri, M. A., Scruggs, T. E., Cerar, N. I., Allen-Bronaugh, D., Thompson, C., Guckert, M., Leins, P., Hauth, C., & Cuenca-Sanchez, Y. (2014). Fluent persuasive writing with counterarguments for students with emotional disturbance. *The Journal of Special Education*, 48(1), 17–31. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022466912440456

- *Mastropieri, M. A., Scruggs, T. E., Mills, S., Cerar, N. I., Cuenca-Sanchez, Y., Allen-Bronaugh, D., Thompson, C., Guckert, M., & Regan, K. (2009). Persuading students with emotional disabilities to write fluently. *Behavioral Disorders*, 35(1), 19–40. https://doi.org/10.1177/019874290903500102
- Mazeh, N., & Safa, N. (2020). The effect of self-regulated strategy development on persuasive writing: A quasi-experimental study among grade 6 students in Lebanese private schools. *Journal of Education and Practice*, *11*(32). https://doi.org/10.7176/jep/11-32-03
- McCutchen, D. (1986). Domain knowledge and linguistic knowledge in the development of writing ability. *Journal of Memory and Language*, 25(4), 431–444. https://doi.org/10.1016/0749-596x(86)90036-7
- Miller, B., & McCardle, P. (2010). Reflections on the need for continued research on writing. *Reading and Writing*, 24(2), 121–132. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11145-010-9267-6

- *Miller, K. M., & Little, M. E. (2018). Examining the effects of SRSD in combination with video self-modeling on writing by third grade students with learning disabilities. *Exceptionality*, 26(2), 81–105. https://doi.org/10.1080/09362835.2017.1283622
- *Mourgkasi, V., & Mavropoulou, S. (2018). Story composition, mental state language and self-regulated strategy instruction for writers with autism spectrum conditions. *Journal of Research in Special Educational Needs*, 18(1), 36–49. https://doi.org/10.1111/1471-3802.12391
- *Nobel, K., Barwasser, A., Grünke, M., Asaro-Saddler, K., & Saddler, B. (2021). Using a simultaneous prompting procedure to improve the quality of the writing of three students with learning disabilities. *International Education Studies*, 14(11), 81. https://doi.org/10.5539/ies.v14n11p81
- Olinghouse, N. G., & Graham, S. (2009). The relationship between the discourse knowledge and the writing performance of elementary-grade students. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 101(1), 37–50. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0013462</u>

Omni Academic Search Tool. (n.d.). Ocul.on.ca. https://ocul.on.ca/omni/

- Ortiz Lienemann, T., Graham, S., Leader-Janssen, B., & Reid, R. (2006). Improving the writing performance of struggling writers in second grade. *The Journal of Special Education*, 40(2), 66–78. https://doi.org/10.1177/00224669060400020301
- Parker, R. I., Vannest, K. J., Davis, J. L., & Sauber, S. B. (2011). Combining nonoverlap and trend for single-case research: Tau-U. *Behavior Therapy*, 42(2), 284–299. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beth.2010.08.006</u>

- *Pennington, R. C., Jones Ault, M., Schuster, J. W., & Sanders, A. (2011). Using simultaneous prompting and computer-assisted instruction to teach story writing to students with autism. *ERIC*, *7*(1).
- Puranik, C. S., & AlOtaiba, S. (2012). Examining the contribution of handwriting and spelling to written expression in kindergarten children. *Reading and Writing*, 25(7), 1523–1546. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11145-011-9331-x
- Puranik, C. S., Boss, E., & Wanless, S. (2019). Relations between self-regulation and early writing: Domain specific or task dependent? *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 46, 228–239. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2018.02.006
- Reading and Writing Quarterly . (n.d.). Taylor and Francis Online. Retrieved June 11, 2023, from https://www.tandfonline.com/journals/urwl20
- Rogers, L. A., & Graham, S. (2008). A meta-analysis of single subject design writing intervention research. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *100*(4), 879–906. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0663.100.4.879
- *Rogers, L. A., & Graham, S. (2020). Effectiveness of volunteer-led strategy instruction on the story writing of third grade students experiencing difficulties learning to write. *Reading and Writing*, *3*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11145-019-09988-x
- Rosário, P., Högemann, J., Núñez, J. C., Vallejo, G., Cunha, J., Rodríguez, C., & Fuentes,
 S. (2019). The impact of three types of writing intervention on students' writing quality. *PLOS ONE*, *14*(7), e0218099.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0218099

Rouse, A., & Graham, S. (2014). A meta-analysis of writing interventions for students with learning disabilities. *Exceptional Children*, 80(4), 454–473. https://doi.org/10.1177/0014402914527238

Routledge. (2019). Routledge.com. https://www.routledge.com/

*Saddler, B., Asaro-Saddler, K., Moeyaert, M., & Cuccio-Slichko, J. (2019). Teaching summary writing to students with learning disabilities via strategy instruction. *Reading & Writing Quarterly*, 6, 1–15.

https://doi.org/10.1080/10573569.2019.1600085

- *Saddler, B., Asaro-Saddler, K., Moeyaert, M., & Ellis-Robinson, T. (2017). Effects of a summarizing strategy on written summaries of children with emotional and behavioral disorders. *Remedial and Special Education*, 38(2), 87–97. https://doi.org/10.1177/0741932516669051
- Saddler, B., & Graham, S. (2007). The relationship between writing knowledge and writing performance among more and less skilled writers. *Reading & Writing Quarterly*, 23(3), 231–247. https://doi.org/10.1080/10573560701277575
- Saddler, B., Moran, S., Graham, S., & Harris, K. R. (2004). Preventing writing difficulties: The effects of planning strategy instruction on the writing performance of struggling writers. *Exceptionality*, *12*(1), 3–17. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327035ex1201_2
- Salas, N., Birello, M., & Ribas, T. (2020). Effectiveness of an SRSD writing intervention for low- and high-SES children. *Reading and Writing*, 34. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11145-020-10103-8</u>

- Salas, N., & Silvente, S. (2019). The role of executive functions and transcription skills in writing: A cross-sectional study across 7 years of schooling. *Reading and Writing*, 33(4), 877–905. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11145-019-09979-y
- Santangelo, T. & Graham, S. (2015). A comprehensive meta-analysis of handwriting instruction. *Educational Psychology Review*, 28(2), 225–265. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-015-9335-1</u>
- Scruggs, T. E., & Mastropieri, M. A. (1998). Summarizing single-subject Research. Behavior Modification, 22(3), 221–242.

https://doi.org/10.1177/01454455980223001

- Scruggs, T. E., & Mastropieri, M. A. (2013). PND at 25: Past, present, and future trends in summarizing single-subject Research. *Remedial and Special Education*, 34(1), 9–19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0741932512440730</u>
- *Shen, M., & Troia, G. A. (2018). Teaching children with language-learning disabilities to plan and revise compare–contrast texts. *Learning Disability Quarterly*, 41(1), 44–61. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0731948717701260</u>
- Straub, C., & Vasquez, E. (2015). Effects of synchronous online writing instruction for students with learning disabilities. *Journal of Special Education Technology*, 30(4), 213–222. https://doi.org/10.1177/0162643415618929

*Unzueta, C. H., & Barbetta, P. M. (2012). The effects of computer graphic organizers on the persuasive writing of Hispanic middle school students with specific learning disabilities. *Journal of Special Education Technology*, 27(3), 15–30. https://doi.org/10.1177/016264341202700302

- Vasquez, E., & Straub, C. (2015). Online writing instruction for children with disabilities: A review of the empirical literature. *Reading & Writing Quarterly*, 32(1), 81–100. https://doi.org/10.1080/10573569.2014.951502
- Wagner, R. K., Puranik, C. S., Foorman, B., Foster, E., Wilson, L. G., Tschinkel, E., & Kantor, P. T. (2011). Modeling the development of written language. *Reading and Writing*, 24(2), 203–220. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11145-010-9266-7
- Wanzek, J., Gatlin, B., Al Otaiba, S., & Kim, Y.-S. G. (2016). The impact of transcription writing interventions for first-grade students. *Reading & Writing Quarterly*, 33(5), 484–499. https://doi.org/10.1080/10573569.2016.1250142
- Wen, H., & Coker, D. L., Jr. (2020). The role of discourse knowledge in writing among first-graders. *Journal of Writing Research*, 12(vol. 12 issue 2), 453–484. https://doi.org/10.17239/jowr-2020.12.02.05
- Werts, M. G., Carpenter, E. S., & Fewell, C. (2014). Barriers and benefits to response to intervention: Perceptions of special education teachers. *Rural Special Education Quarterly*, 33(2), 3–11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/875687051403300202</u>
- What Works Clearing House. (2022). What Works Clearinghouse Procedures and Standards Handbook, Version 5.0 A Publication of the National Center for Education Evaluation at IES. https://ies.ed.gov/ncee/wwc/Docs/referenceresources/Final_WWC-

HandbookVer5_0-0-508.pdf

*Yazar Soyad, K. O. (2021). The effectiveness of POW + C-SPACE strategy provided by parents of children with writing difficulties on story-writing skills. *Journal of Pedagogical Research*, 5(2), 172–187. https://doi.org/10.33902/jpr.2021270124

- Zimmerman, B. J., & Risemberg, R. (1997). Becoming a self-regulated writer: A social cognitive perspective. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 22(1), 73–101. https://doi.org/10.1006/ceps.1997.0919
- *Zumbrunn, S., & Bruning, R. (2013). Improving the writing and knowledge of emergent writers: The effects of self-regulated strategy development. *Reading and Writing*, 26(1), 91–110. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11145-012-9384-5

Appendices

Quality Indicator	Description of Quality Indicator
• Outcome measures • •	Evidence of face validity must be shown by providing a clear definition of what is being measured and assess it. Study must present evidence that outcome measures are reliable Inter-rater reliability is collected during each phase and for a minimum of 20 percent of the judgments Data collection procedures must be the same across all phases of the study. Ensuring confounding factors are not present throughout the study.
• Data availability	Data is provided in graphical or tabular format for their findings. Summary data, such as the within-phase mean for each phase, are not sufficient to meet this requirement. Graphical or tabular data must present the raw data that corresponds to the individual observation sessions.
• Independent variable	Independent variable is systematically manipulated and under the control of the experimenter and have clear criteria on when to transition participants between conditions/phases.
• Residual treatment effects	When there are two or more interventions in the intervention phase

Appendix A: WWC Primary Quality Indicators

Quality Indicator	Description of Quality Indicator
	of an alternating treatment design, the reviewer must examine the study to ensure that there is limited risk of residual treatment effects.
• Design assessment	At least three phase changes between the two conditions being compared within a review, which occur at three different points in time must be present. For reversal/withdrawal designs, this will be at least three phase changes within a case. Three phase changes requires that a case has at least four total phases. For a multiple baseline or multiple probe design, this would be at least three tiers with phase changes at three different times.

Quality Indicator	Description of Quality Indicator
Phases	 Multiple baseline designs must have a minimum of six phases across participants and split into two conditions for findings to be rated Meets WWC Standards Without Reservations or Meets WWC Standards with Reservations. Transitions from the baseline phase to the intervention phase must have at least three unique timings to ensure that there are three opportunities to demonstrate the intervention effect at three different points in time.
Data points per phase	 To be eligible to be rated Meets WWC Standards Without Reservations, the first baseline phase within each tier must have at least six data points. Additionally, all subsequent phases must have five or more data points per phase. To be eligible to be rated Meets WWC Standards With Reservations, three phases per condition must have three or more data points per phase. Findings from multiple baseline designs that do not meet either set of requirements will be rated Does Not Meet WWC Standards.
Concurrence	• Tiers must be organized to allow for

Appendix B: Additional WWC Indicators for Multiple Baseline and Multiple Probe Single-Subject Research

Concurrence

Tiers must be organized to allow for vertical comparison. This means that data points at time 1 for every tier

Quality Indicator	Description of Quality Indicator
	must take place prior to all data points at time 2 for every tier, and all data points at time 2 for every tier must take place prior to all data points at time 3 for every tier, and so on (Slocum et al., 2022). Reviewers should assume this standard is met, unless authors provide evidence of nonconcurrence, such as describing the design as a nonconcurrent multiple baseline or graphing data in a way that suggests nonconcurrence. All tiers must have data collected in the baseline phase prior to the introduction of intervention to any case. Cases that have not yet received the intervention must have data at or after the time another case enters the intervention.
Presence of training phase (if applicable)	If the effect of the intervention is expected to be immediate at the onset of training, then data for the training phases must be present for every tier and can be considered part of the intervention. If the intervention effect is not expected until after the completion of the training, then tiers still in the baseline phase must continue baseline measurement at or after the time point when a preceding tier has the first intervention probe after completing training.

Initial preintervention data collection sessions must overlap (MPDs only)

• For findings to receive a research rating of Meets WWC Standards Without Reservations, each tier must

Quality Indicator	Description of Quality Indicator
	 have three data points in the first three sessions. For findings to receive a research rating of Meets WWC Standards With Reservations, there must be at least one session within the first three sessions where probe points overlap vertically for all tiers in the design.
Probe points must be available just prior to introducing the independent variable (MPDs only)	 Within the three sessions just prior to introducing the independent variable, the design must include three consecutive probe points for each case to be rated Meets WWC Standards Without Reservations and at least one probe point immediately preceding the onset of intervention for each case to be rated Meets WWC Standards With Reservations. Each case not receiving the intervention must have a probe point in a session where another case either first receives the intervention or reaches a prespecified intervention criterion described by the researchers.

• Findings from MPDs that fail to meet any of these requirements in addition to the general MBD requirements will receive a research rating *of Does Not Meet WWC Standards*.

Researcher & Year	PND Holistic Text Quality Mean Values
Rodgers et al., 2020	33.3
FitzPatrick & McKeown, 2021	37.5
Mourgkasi & Mavropoulou, 2018	55.6
Mason et al., 2011 (Study 1)	56
Little et al., 2010	58.3
Zumbrunn & Burning, 2013	59.7
Mason et al., 2011 (Study 2)	62
Miller & Little, 2018	75.7
Lane et al., 2010 (External Behaviours)	81
Mason et al., 2010	84
Lushen et al., 2012	88.9
Asaro-Saddler & Saddler, 2010	91.7
Cramer & Mason, 2014	95.8
Harris et al., 2019	95.8
Lane et al., 2010 (Internal Behaviours)	96.4
Cuena-Carlino & Mustain, 2013	96.3
Nobel et al., 2021	97

Appendix C: Mean PND Holistic Text Quality Values

Researcher & Year	PND Holistic Text Quality Mean Values
Adkins & Gavins, 2012	100
Asaro-Saddler, 2014	100
Bishop et al., 2015	100
FitzPatrick & McKeown, 2020	100
Hauth, 2013	100
Mastropieri et al., 2009	100
Mastropieri et al., 2014	100
Saddler et al., 2017	100
Saddler et al., 2019	100
YazarSoyad, 2021	100
Asaro-Saddler & Bak, 2012	100
Kroesch et al, 2022	100

Researcher & Year	Mean Genre Elements PND Value
Cramer & Mason, 2014	58.3
Zumbrunn & Burning, 2013	59.7
Mourgkasi & Mavropoulou, 2018	66.7
Mason et al., 2011 (Study 2)	77.0
Lane et al., 2010 (Internal Behaviours)	79.7
Miller & Little, 2018	84.7
FitzPatrick & McKeown, 2020	91.7
Rodgers et al., 2020	93.3
Mason et al., 2011 (Study 1)	94.0
Cuena-Carlino & Mustain, 2013	96.8
Ciullo et al., 2021	98.2
Adkins & Gavins, 2012	100
Asaro-Saddler & Bak, 2012	100
Asaro-Saddler, 2014	100
Asaro-Saddler & Saddler, 2010	100
FitzPatrick & McKeown, 2021	100
Grünke et al., 2019	100

Appendix D: Mean PND Genre Elements Values

Researcher & Year	Mean Genre Elements PND Value
Harris et al., 2019	100
Hauth, 2013	100
Kroesch et al, 2022	100
Lane et al., 2008	100
Lane et al., 2010 (External Behaviours)	100
Launder et al., 2022	100
Little et al., 2010	100
Lushen et al., 2012	100
Mason & Shriner, 2008	100
Mastropieri et al., 2009	100
Mastropieri et al., 2014	100
Pennington et al., 2011	100
Shen & Troia, 2018	100

Researcher and Year	Mean PND Word Count Values
Mourgkasi & Mavropoulou, 2018	11.1
Rodgers et al., 2020	33.3
Lushen et al., 2012	44.5
Cramer & Mason, 2014	54.1
Asaro-Saddler & Bak, 2012	55.5
Harris et al., 2019	56.3
Zumbrunn & Burning, 2013	58.3
Bishop et al., 2015	60.1
Miller & Little, 2018	62.5
Lane et al., 2010 (Internalizing Behaviours)	69
Unzueta, 2012	76.4
Little et al., 2010	83.3
Lane et al., 2010 (Externalizing Behaviours)	87.6
Asaro-Saddler, 2014	88.6

Appendix E: Mean PND Word Count Values

Researcher and Year	Mean PND Word Count Values
Asaro-Saddler & Saddler, 2010	91.7
FitzPatrick & McKeown, 2020	91.7
Adkins & Gavins, 2012	100
Curcic & Platt, 2019	100
Grünke et al., 2019	100
Hauth, 2013	100

Curriculum Vitae

Name:	Madelyn Casola
Post-secondary Education and Degrees:	University of Guelph Guelph, Ontario, Canada 2017-2021 B.A. (Honours Psychology)
	The University of Western Ontario London, Ontario, Canada 2021- Current MA Education studies in the field of School and Applied Child Psychology
Honours and Awards:	University of Western Ontario Graduate Students Living with Disabilities Scholarship 2021-2023
	Joseph-Armand Bombardier Canada (SSHRC) Graduate Scholarship 2021-2023
Related Work Experience	Graduate Research Assistant The University of Western Ontario 2021- Current

Publications:

Klein, P. D., Casola, M., Dombroski, J. D., Giese, C., Sha, K. W.-Y., & Thompson, S. C. (2022). Response to Intervention in Virtual Classrooms with Beginning Writers. Reading & Writing Quarterly, 1–23. https://doi.org/10.1080/10573569.2022.2131662